FILED 04-19-2021 CLERK OF WISCONSIN SUPREME COURT

STATE OF WISCONSIN

IN SUPREME COURT

Case No. 2020AP160-CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

v.

ERIC P. ENGEN,

Defendant-Appellant-Petitioner.

PETITION FOR REVIEW

DAVID J. SUSENS Assistant State Public Defender State Bar No. 1099463

COLLEEN D. BALL Assistant State Public Defender State Bar No. 1000719

Office of the State Public Defender Post Office Box 7862 Madison, WI 53707-7862 (608) 267-2124 susensd@opd.wi.gov ballc@opd.wi.gov

Attorneys for Defendant-Appellant-Petitioner

STATEMENT OF FACTS AND STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The circuit court issued three orders that prompted Engen's appeal. First, the court ordered the administration of involuntary medication. (R.153; App. 154). Then, the circuit court simultaneously issued orders granting the state's motion to lift the automatic stay and tolling the statutory time to bring Engen to competence. (R.158; App. 214). In the court of appeals, Engen requested that the court vacate each of the three orders.

The court of appeals granted partial relief by reversing and remanding to the circuit court because the circuit court erred by entering the involuntary medication order and tolling order. *Engen*, 2020AP160-CR, ¶30. (App. 115). But the court rejected Engen's request to vacate the order lifting the stay. *Id.*, ¶29 n.14. (App. 114). Thus, for the purpose of this petition, the significant facts relate to the circuit court's decision to simultaneously stay and lift the order for involuntary medication.

The court ordered involuntary medication at a hearing on January 16, 2020. (App. 151-52). Right after the hearing, defense counsel filed an Emergency Motion for Automatic Stay of Involuntary Medication and a Notice of Appeal in the circuit court. (R.154, 155; App. 156-57). The motion alerted the court to the fact that Engen was entitled to an automatic stay of involuntary medication pending his appeal as a matter of right under *Scott*.

On January 17th, the State filed a Motion to Toll Statutory Time to Bring Defendant to Competence. (R.156; App. 159-65). In that motion,

Case 2020AP000160 Petition for Review Filed 04-19-2021 Page 6 of 16

the State explained that it was not moving to lift the stay at that time. (App. 164).

The court held another hearing on January 21, 2020, where the State conceded that Engen had a right to appeal and a right to an automatic stay. (App. 169-70). The State also explained that it did not move to lift the stay because *Scott* ¶47 appears to show that the motion must be filed in the court of appeals and § 808.075 does not empower the circuit court to lift the stay. (App. 174-75).

The court asked the State if it wanted to make a motion to lift the stay. The State replied that it wasn't sure that it could because of § 808.075 and *Scott*. (App. 186-87). But after receiving the court's blessing, the State argued for lifting the stay. (App. 187-94).

Defense counsel argued that the State's surprise oral motion to lift the stay violated Engen's right to procedural due process. He had no notice of the State's arguments and no chance to prepare a defense to them. (App. 198-205). Defense counsel argued that the motion was a surprise because the State's motion to toll conveyed that it was not requesting a lift of the automatic stay at that time. (App. 200-01). Yet the court insisted that it would decide the issue of the stay and the lifting of the stay simultaneously. (App. 201-02).

The circuit court called Engen's appeal a "sham," "granted" the "automatic" stay and then immediately lifted it because the State's argument was "unrefuted and extremely, extremely strong." (App. 206-10).

Case 2020AP000160 Petition for Review Filed 04-19-2021 Page 7 of 16

Engen filed an Amended Notice of Appeal to include the order lifting the stay and granting the motion to toll. (R.159). Engen also moved for Emergency Temporary Relief and Motion for Stay Pending Appeal in the court of appeals. The court of appeals granted Engen's motion and reinstated the automatic stay pending Engen's appeal of the circuit court's involuntary medication order. (App. 215-20). Contrary to the circuit court, the court of appeals held that the State failed to show that it was likely to succeed on the first *Sell* factor or that Engen would not suffer irreparable harm without a stay. (App. 219-20).

This petition follows. Engen seeks this Court's review of the decision of the court of appeals denying Engen's request to vacate the order lifting the automatic stay.

ARGUMENT

I. This Court Should Grant Review and Hold that the Circuit Court Violated *Scott* and the Rules of Appellate Procedure and Denied Engen's Right to Procedural Due Process.

Given the important liberty interest at stake—as recognized *Sell*, *Scott*, and *Fitzgerald*—involuntary medication orders should be the rare exception, not the rule. *Scott* acknowledges this and assumes that an erroneous involuntary medication order, like the order entered here, harms a defendant. Thus, a stay pending appeal should be—and under *Scott* is—automatic and the State must prove to the court of appeals that "the defendant will not suffer

Case 2020AP000160 Petition for Review Filed 04-19-2021 Page 8 of 16

irreparable harm if the stay is lifted." Scott, 2018 WI 74, ¶47, 382 Wis. 2d 476, 914 N.W.2d 141. The procedure employed by the circuit court violated due process and undermines both the purpose and language of Scott.

A. The circuit court violated *Scott* and the rules of appellate procedure.

On appeal, the State conceded that the circuit court entered an involuntary medication order that was unconstitutional. But—without an established procedure clarifying *Scott*— to obtain the "automatic" stay he was entitled to, Engen had to file a notice of appeal, file and argue an emergency motion in circuit court, and file and argue an emergency motion in the court of appeals.

Because involuntary medication is unique, Scott created a new procedure for stay pending appeal that is unique. Scott, 382 Wis. 2d 476, ¶¶44-48. First the stay is automatic. Then, as the party by the order staying aggrieved involuntary medication, the State may seek relief in the court of appeals under § 809.12. According to Scott and § 809.12, if the State wishes to exercise this option, it may do so by filing a motion in court of appeals. It is the court of appeals that has discretion to grant or deny the motion based on factors modified from State v. Gudenschwager, 191 Wis. 2d 431, 529 N.W.2d 225 (1995).

Despite the fact that Engen filed a notice of appeal and requested an automatic stay, rather than simply granting the "automatic" stay, the circuit court reconvened for a hearing. Then, despite the state's concession that a stay is automatic and

Case 2020AP000160 Petition for Review Filed 04-19-2021 Page 9 of 16

explanation that circuit courts lack the authority to lift it under paragraph 48 in *Scott* and § 808.075, the court invited the State's oral motion to lift the "automatic" stay anyway. (App. 174-75). After labeling Engen's ultimately meritorious appeal a "sham," the circuit court lifted the stay. (App. 209-10).

This practice places an extraordinary burden on defendants to take immediate action in the circuit court and then immediate action in the court of appeals to prevent the nullification of a significant constitutional right. It defies this Court's proclamation that a stay is "automatic," the State must make a motion to lift it, and the discretion for lifting the stay resides in the court of appeals:

Whether to grant the State's motion is a discretionary decision, and as we explained above, the court of appeals must explain its discretionary decision to grant or deny the State's motion.

Scott, 382 Wis. 2d 476, ¶48 (emphasis added).

Yet The court of appeals approved this procedure in Green and again in Engen's case. In Green, the court of appeals rejected Greens argument that the language in Scott and Wis. Stat. § 809.12 require that a motion to lift the automatic stay must be filed in the court of appeals. Green, 2021 WI 18, ¶¶71-74. The court of appeals noted that "Scott contains no language specifying in which court a motion to lift the automatic stay in an involuntary medication case must be filed." Id., ¶71. the explicit observation ignores language paragraph 48 of Scott and fails to recognize Scott correctly presumes that—based on §§ 808.07, 809.12, and 808.075—the State may only get relief from a stay pending appeal ordered by the circuit court by filing a motion in the court of appeals.

The court rejected Green's statutory argument was "incomplete and raised for the first time on reply." Id., ¶74. The court of appeals rejected Engen's argument based on its decision in $Green.^2$ (App. 114). In both cases, the court of appeals overlooked the fact that the statutory argument is implicit in this Court's decision in Scott.

In Engen's case, the State recognized that *Scott's* rule fits within the broader context of a statutory scheme that establishes the procedures that parties must follow to obtain relief pending appeal and grants circuit court limited authority to act pending appeal. The prosecutor noted that paragraph 48 in *Scott* specifically says that "the court of appeals must explain its discretionary decision to grant or deny the State's motion." (App. 174). The prosecutor also said that he "would have loved to have found" authority for the circuit court to lift a stay under § 808.075 but he looked and "didn't find it." (App. 175).

Scott presumes that defendants are irreparably harmed by involuntary medication orders so this Court designed a stay/lift procedure that is in harmony with the statutory scheme and is aimed at avoiding a situation in which a defendant's rights are

² Unlike Green, Engen made a complete argument based on $\S 809.12$ in his appellant's brief. But the court of appeals denied it based on its decision in *Green*, which erroneously interpreted $Scott \ \P 47$.

Case 2020AP000160 Petition for Review Filed 04-19-2021 Page 11 of 16

nullified by being forcibly medicated under a constitutionally deficient circuit court order. Yet the government medicated Green under such an order. See Green, 2021 WI 18, ¶10. In both Green and in Engen's case, the circuit court's procedures forced defendants to race to the court of appeals to prove that they would be irreparably harmed by erroneous involuntary medication orders.

The court of appeals erred by misinterpreting the language and purpose of *Scott* in *Green* and imposed that error onto Engen's case. To avoid repetition of this error, this Court should grant review and instruct the lower courts that *Scott* means what it says.

B. The circuit court's order violated procedural due process

In denying Engen's request to vacate the order lifting the stay of involuntary medication, the court of appeals noted that procedure employed by the circuit court "all but invited a due process challenge." (App. 114). Indeed, the circuit court violated the "fundamental requirement" of due process which is "the opportunity to be heard 'at a meaningful time and in a meaningful manner." *Mathews v. Eldridge*, 424 U.S. 319, 333 (1976)(quoting *Armstrong v. Manzo*, 380 U.S. 545, 552 (1965)).

Scott does not relieve the State of its obligations under §§ 809.12 and 809.14. If the State seeks relief pending appeal or relief from a circuit court stay order, it "shall file a motion." The State did not file a motion. It made the motion orally at the circuit court's invitation. Engen's counsel had no notice and no chance to prepare a thoughtful

Case 2020AP000160 Petition for Review Filed 04-19-2021 Page 12 of 16

response. In the context of an involuntary medication order, the written motion requirement is not a trivial matter.

In this case and in Fitzgerald the circuit courts entered automatic stays, invited the State to move to lift the stay, and lifted the stay all within minutes of each other. Fitzgerald, 387 Wis. 2d 384, ¶9. That procedure defeats Scott's purpose and places a defendant's constitutionally protected freedom from involuntary medication at great risk of erroneous deprivation in violation of due process. See Matthews v. Eldridge, 424U.S. 319 (1976). This Court should grant review to clarify and reinforce the requirements of due process proceedings involving involuntary medication.

Case 2020AP000160 Petition for Review Filed 04-19-2021 Page 13 of 16

CONCLUSION

For the reasons stated above, Mr. Engen respectfully requests that this Court accept review and hold that the circuit court violated *Scott* and due process, and hold that the order lifting the stay of involuntary medication should be vacated.