**FILED**  
**05-17-2021**  
**CLERK OF WISCONSIN**  
**SUPREME COURT**

STATE OF WISCONSIN  
IN SUPREME COURT

---

No. 2020AP160-CR

---

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

v.

ERIC P. ENGEN,

Defendant-Appellant-Petitioner.

---

**RESPONSE OPPOSING PETITION FOR REVIEW**

---

JOSHUA L. KAUL  
Attorney General of Wisconsin

MAURA WHELAN  
Assistant Attorney General  
State Bar #1027974

Attorneys for Plaintiff-Respondent

Wisconsin Department of Justice  
Post Office Box 7857  
Madison, Wisconsin 53707-7857  
(608) 266-3859  
(608) 294-2907 (Fax)  
whelanmf@doj.state.wi.us

##

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

## ARGUMENT

### **I. Engen is not entitled to this Court's review because the court of appeals' decision was not adverse to him.**

The rules of appellate procedure provide that “[a] party may file with the supreme court a petition for review of *an adverse decision* of the court of appeals.” Wis. Stat. § (Rule) 809.62(1m)(a). The rule recognizes two kinds of “adverse decision” and declares unequivocally what an “adverse decision” is not:

(a) “Adverse decision” means a final order or decision of the court of appeals, the result of which is contrary, in whole or in part, to the result sought in that court by any party seeking review.

(b) “Adverse decision” includes the court of appeals' denial of or failure to grant the full relief sought or the court of appeals' denial of the preferred form of relief.

(c) “Adverse decision” does not include a party's disagreement with the court of appeals' language or rationale in granting a party's requested relief.

Wis. Stat. § (Rule) 809.62(1g).

This Court should deny Engen's petition for review because he did not receive an “adverse decision” from the court of appeals under either of the alternative definitions of “adverse decision.” On the contrary, the court of appeals'

decision falls within the category of decisions that are not “adverse decisions.”

Under the first definition, a decision would be “adverse” to Engen if it was “contrary . . . to the result sought” by Engen. Wis. Stat. § (Rule) 809.62(1g)(a). Here, Engen asked the court of appeals to “vacate the circuit court’s January 16, 2020 Amended Order of Commitment for Treatment (Incompetency) and the portions of the January 21, 2020 order that lifted the automatic stay [and] granted the State’s motion to toll.” (Engen’s Ct. Appeals Opening Br. 46.) The court of appeals “conclude[d] that the involuntary medication order [of January 16, 2020] and tolling orders [of January 21, 2020] were entered in error. Therefore, we reverse and remand for the circuit court to discharge Engen from his commitment.” *Engen*, 2021 WL 1031365, ¶ 30. Clearly, this is not an adverse decision because the court of appeals gave Engen exactly what he asked for.

At an earlier stage in the appeal, Engen moved for “relief from the order lifting the automatic stay pending appeal.” (Pet-App. 220.) On March 2, 2020, that motion was granted. The order lifting the stay was vacated, and “[t]he automatic stay pending appeal of the order for involuntary medication is reinstated.” (Pet-App. 220.) So, even then, Engen did not receive an “adverse decision” from the court of appeals.

Engen fares no better under the second definition; indeed, the analysis is the same. The court of appeals did grant Engen “the full relief sought” and his “preferred form of relief.” Wis. Stat. § (Rule) 809.62(1g)(b). That was also true when it granted his motion to lift the circuit court’s order lifting the automatic stay of the involuntary medication order on March 2, 2020. He got the “full relief sought” and the “preferred form of relief.” *Id.*

The rule states that a decision is not “adverse” if the petitioner merely disagrees with the court of appeals’ “language or rationale.” Wis. Stat. § (Rule) 809.62(1g)(c). That’s what we have here. Engen’s petition asks this Court to “accept review and hold that the circuit court violated *Scott* and due process, and hold that the order lifting the stay of involuntary medication should be vacated.” (Pet. 11.) With respect to venue, the court of appeals noted that it had already, in *Green*, rejected the argument that a motion to lift an automatic stay must be filed in the court of appeals. *Engen*, 2021 WL 1031365, ¶ 28 n.13. With regard to the way the circuit court handled the motion, the court of appeals criticized the circuit court unreservedly, observing that it “all but invited a due process challenge.” *Id.* Despite this, the court of appeals declined to address the issue further “because any violation was cured by this court’s subsequent entry of an order reinstating the stay,” i.e., the March 2, 2020 order. *Id.*

Engen got the relief he asked for from the court of appeals in the order lifting the automatic stay on March 2, 2020, but he is dissatisfied with the court’s “language or rationale” in its discussion of the *Scott* issue in footnote 13. Wis. Stat. § (Rule) 809.62(1g)(c). Engen is not satisfied by the court’s reliance on *Green*, its observation that Engen had already received relief, and its mere admonition (without more) to the circuit court about the way it handled the State’s motion to lift the stay. Engen’s dissatisfaction with the court’s treatment of the *Scott* issue does not make the court of appeals’ decision an “adverse decision” from which he may petition for this Court’s review. *See id.*

In sum, whichever way you cut it, Engen simply did not receive an “adverse decision” from the court of appeals. Therefore, his petition for review should be rejected by this Court out of hand.

**II. Engen’s argument about whether or not a defendant must file a motion to obtain an “automatic” stay of an involuntary medication order was forfeited because not raised in his court of appeals briefs.**

In *Scott*, this Court held that a defendant is entitled to an “automatic” stay pending appeal of an involuntary medication order. 382 Wis. 2d 476, ¶ 43. Here, Engen filed a motion to obtain that automatic stay. (R. 154.) In his petition for review, he argues that because his right to stay is “automatic,” he should not have had to file a motion to get it. (Pet. 6–7.)

The issue is forfeited. A “position turning on a point of law known to exist but not briefed or argued” is “deem[ed] abandoned.” *Polan v. DOR*, 147 Wis. 2d 648, 660, 433 N.W.2d 640 (Ct. App. 1988). Engen did not raise this issue in either his opening brief or his reply brief in the court of appeals, so he did not give the court of appeals an opportunity to rule on it. Engen made three arguments in his court of appeals briefs about the State’s motion to lift the stay, but presented no argument about the “automatic” stay itself. (Engen’s Ct. Appeals Opening Br. 32–40; Engen’s Ct. Appeals Reply Br. 6–8.)

This Court should decline to hear this forfeited issue.

**III. Neither issue raised by Engen warrants this Court’s review.**

Engen raises two issues arising from the circuit court’s order granting the State’s motion to lift the automatic stay. First is what he calls the circuit court’s violation of *Scott* and the rules of appellate procedure. The second is the manner in which the court conducted the stay-lifting procedure. Neither warrants this Court’s review.

**A. The venue issue was definitively resolved by *Green*, and further consideration by this Court is unnecessary.**

As noted, part of Engen's *Scott* argument is the forfeited issue of whether a defendant must file a motion to obtain an automatic stay. The State will not address that issue any further.

Beyond that, Engen argues that a motion to lift an automatic stay must be filed in the court of appeals and may not be filed in the circuit court. (Pet. 7–9.) Engen acknowledges, as he must, that the court of appeals addressed this issue in *Green* and concluded that the State may file a motion to lift the stay in the circuit court. (Pet. 7–8 (citing *Green*, 2021 WI App 18, ¶¶ 71–74).) What Engen does not acknowledge is that *Green* is a published court of appeals decision and binding authority. See *Manitowoc County v. Samuel J.H.*, 2013 WI 68, ¶ 5 n.2, 349 Wis. 2d 202, 833 N.W.2d 109 (published decision by the court of appeals has statewide precedential effect); see also *Wenke v. Gehl Co.*, 2004 WI 103, ¶ 21, 274 Wis. 2d 220, 682 N.W.2d 405 (this Court abides by published court of appeals precedent absent a compelling reason to overrule it). Therefore, to give Engen the ruling he wants, this Court must overrule that newly minted opinion. Engen does not bother to acknowledge this fact.

The *Green* opinion is not only binding authority, it is also well-reasoned. It started its analysis by responding to defendant Green's interpretation of *Scott*. Green emphasized the *Scott* court's directive to *the court of appeals* to "explain its discretionary decision to grant or deny the State's motion," *Green*, 2021 WI App 18, ¶ 70 (quoting *Scott*, 382 Wis. 2d 476, ¶ 48). Green inferred from this language that the stay-lifting motion must therefore be filed in the court of appeals. The *Green* court explained that Green had misinterpreted *Scott*.

After noting that *Scott* did not specify where the State should file its motion, the court of appeals explained that *Scott*'s "directive to the court of appeals followed only from the fact that the defendant [Scott] filed his motion to stay in the court of appeals, so in that case any motion by the State to lift the stay would have also been filed in the court of appeals." *Green*, 2021 WI App 18, ¶ 71. Because it was the court of appeals that had failed to explain its discretionary decision, it was the court of appeals that was directed to supply that explanation by the *Scott* court. *Id.* There was no further significance to the *Scott* court's reference to the court of appeals. It was not a requirement that a stay-lifting motion must be filed in the court of appeals.

The *Green* court went on to consider Green's reliance on Wis. Stat. § (Rule) 809.12, which provides that "[a] person aggrieved by an order of the trial court granting the relief requested [under Wis. Stat. § 808.07] may file a motion for relief from the order with the court [of appeals]." Based on this, Green (and now Engen) argued that the State, aggrieved by the automatic stay of the involuntary medication order, is an aggrieved party who must seek relief in the court of appeals. *Green*, 2021 WI App 18, ¶ 73. As Engen correctly notes, the *Green* court did not dwell long on this argument, which it considered undeveloped by Green,<sup>3</sup> but it did state clearly that "Green points to no language in the statute or elsewhere directing that a party so aggrieved *must* file a motion to lift a stay in the court of appeals rather than in the circuit court." *Id.*

There are additional compelling reasons to allow the State to file a motion to lift the *Scott* stay in the circuit court.

---

<sup>3</sup> Engen notes that unlike Green, he "made a complete argument based on § 809.12 in his appellant's brief." (Pet. 8 n.2.) Remarkably, Engen does not bother to divulge even a hint of that "complete argument" in his petition.

First, the circuit court is better placed than the court of appeals to conduct the factual inquiries at the heart of the motion to lift the stay. Second, since the losing party might want appellate review of the stay-lifting decision, the court of appeals is a more appropriate venue than this Court to provide that review.

The State's motion to lift the automatic stay is a modified *Gudenschwager* motion. *Scott*, 382 Wis. 2d 476, ¶¶ 45–47.<sup>4</sup> A *Gudenschwager* motion typically originates in the circuit court. *See, e.g., State v. Gudenschwager*, 191 Wis. 2d 431, 439–40, 529 N.W.2d 225 (1995). So, like a motion for a stay pending appeal under *Gudenschwager*, a motion to lift a stay pending appeal under *Scott* is appropriately heard by the circuit court in the first instance rather than the court of appeals “unless it is impractical to seek relief in the trial court.” Wis. Stat. § (Rule) 809.12. As with the more familiar *Gudenschwager* motion, the circuit court is in a better position than the court of appeals is to weigh *Scott*'s fact and equity inquiries, i.e., whether the defendant will suffer irreparable harm if the automatic stay is lifted, whether other interested

---

<sup>4</sup> To lift the stay under *Scott*, the State must:

- (1) make a strong showing that it is likely to succeed on the merits of the appeal;
- (2) show that the defendant will not suffer irreparable harm if the stay is lifted;
- (3) show that no substantial harm will come to other interested parties if the stay is lifted; and
- (4) show that lifting the stay will do no harm to the public interest.

*State v. Scott*, 2018 WI 74, ¶ 47, 382 Wis. 2d 476, 914 N.W.2d 141. To obtain a stay under *Gudenschwager*, the moving party must make a similar showing. The only difference is in the second factor. Under *Gudenschwager*, the movant must show that, “unless a stay is granted, [the movant] will suffer irreparable injury.” *State v. Gudenschwager*, 191 Wis. 2d 431, 440, 529 N.W.2d 225 (1995).

parties will suffer substantial harm, and whether the public interest will suffer any harm. *See Scott*, 382 Wis. 2d 476, ¶ 45.

As with a *Gudenschwager* order, either party can appeal the circuit court's order on the *Scott* stay-lifting motion to the court of appeals. *See* Wis. Stat. § (Rule) 809.12. But if a *Scott* stay-lifting motion *must* originate in the court of appeals, the only avenue of appellate review from the first judicial consideration of the motion would be a petition for review to the supreme court. That process would create judicial inefficiencies and needlessly crowd the supreme court docket with appellate motion practice more appropriate to the court of appeals.

Admittedly, before *Green*, parties in *Sell/Scott* cases were uncertain about where the State was supposed to file its stay motion. Because *Green* is a published opinion, it has finally resolved that uncertainty. *Green* provides a clear rule, which is also supported by law and logic. There is no reason to overrule it.

There is no reason for this Court to revisit the venue question definitively resolved by the court of appeals in *Green*. The petition for review should be denied.

**B. The circuit court's handling of the State's motion to lift the stay does not satisfy the criteria for this Court's discretionary review.**

Engen argues that the circuit court's order lifting the *Scott* stay violated procedural due process because the State did not file a written motion and because the court lifted the stay summarily. (Pet. 9–10.) As noted earlier, the court of appeals gave Engen relief from this order on March 2, 2020, and later criticized the circuit court's handling of the motion in its final decision. *See supra* at 4, 6, 7, 9. No further discussion on this topic is warranted. This Court is not an

error-correcting court, but a law-making court with a discretionary docket. *See Blum v. 1st Auto & Cas. Ins. Co.*, 2010 WI 78, ¶ 49, 326 Wis. 2d 729, 786 N.W.2d 78 (error correction not a basis to grant review). Despite wrapping the circuit court's handling of the stay-lifting motion in constitutional clothing, Engen has not explained how the issue warrants review under the criteria listed in Wis. Stat. § (Rule) 809.62(1r). The Court should deny review.

### CONCLUSION

For the stated reasons, the State of Wisconsin respectfully requests that this Court deny Eric Engen's petition for review.